1			
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	THE STATE O	OF NEVADA
3	THE NEVADA INDEPENDENT,		
4 5	Appellant,	No.: 81844	Electronically Filed Feb 23 2021 05:38 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
6	VS.	DGM 4.1	
7 8 9 10 11 12	RICHARD WHITLEY, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE DIRECTOR OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, THE STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL. THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, AND SANOFI-	DC No.: A-I	9-799939-W
13	AVENTIS U.S. LLC,		
15	Respondents.		
16	<u>-</u>		
17			
18	APPELLANT'S OP	ENING BRIEF	
19	(Appeal from denial of Petitio	n for Writ of Ma	andamus)
20	(,
21			
22	MATTHEW J. RASHBROOK		
23	Nevada State Bar No. 12477 ROBERT L. LANGFORD, Esq.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant The Nevada Independent ("The Independent"), appeals from "A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." Nev. R. App. Pro. 3A(b)(1).

The District Court entered its Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus, a final judgment under Nev. R. App. Pro. 3A(b)(1), on September 4, 2020. Joint Appendix IV, p. 974 – 84 ("JA IV, 974 – 84"). The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on September 9, 2020 and served electronically. *Id.* at 985 – 98. The Independent timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 22, 2020. *Id.* at 999 – JA V, 1001.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court as it is a matter "raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance[.]" Nev. R. App. Pro. 17(a)(12).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The District Court erred in determining that the public records at issue are rendered confidential by the Defend Trade Secrets Act ("DTSA"), 18 U.S.C. 1836, et seq.
- II. The District Court abused its discretion in failing to strike the Declaration of James Borneman.

III. The District Court erred in failing to invalidate NAC §§ 439.730 –.740.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1

2

3

4

5 On August 8, 2019, The Independent filed a Petition for a Writ of 6 Mandamus in the District Court, seeking access to certain public records. JA I, 1-14. On August 27, 2019, the District Court calendared the Petition to be heard on October 22, 2019. Id. at 233 – 4. On October 15, 2019, The 10 Independent filed a Supplemental Brief in Support of Petition for a Writ of 11 12 Mandamus. Id. at 235 – 46, and on October 17, 2019, Respondents Richard 13 Whitley ("Whitley") and the State of Nevada ex rel. the Nevada Department 14 of Human Services ("DHHS") filed their Opposition and Motion to Dismiss, 16 Id. at 247 - 56. 17 On October 21, 2019, Respondent Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC ("Sanofi") 18 filed its Motion to Intervene and to Continue Hearing, on Shortened Time. *Id.* 20 at 257 – 455. The Independent opposed Sanofi's Motion to Intervene on 21 October 31, 2019, id. at 456 – 65, Sanofi made a Reply in Support on 23 November 1, 2019, id. at 466 – 72, and the Motion was heard on November 5, 24 2019, id. at 473 – 91. Following the hearing, The Independent filed an Errata to correct an incorrect statement made during the oral argument. JA II, 492 –

JA III, 520. On November 14, 2019, the District Court issued a Minute Order,

seeking further briefing from the parties. JA III, 521 - 2. On November 21, 2019, Sanofi submitted the requested Supplemental Brief, id. at 523 - 8, and on December 5, 2019, The Independent submitted the requested Supplemental Brief and a Reply to the Proposed Response, id. at 529 – 44. On December 23, 2019, the District Court entered its Order Granting Sanofi's Motion to Intervene, id. at 549 - 53, and Sanofi filed its Response to Petitioner's Petition for a Writ of Mandamus, id. at 554 - 738. On January 3, 2020, The 10 Independent filed its Reply to Intervenor's Response. JA III, 739 – JA IV, 11 12 758. 13 On January 17, 2020, The Independent filed its Witness List, JA IV, 759 14 -61, Sanofi filed its Disclosure of Witnesses, id. at 762 - 4, and Whitley and 16 DHHS filed their Disclosure of Witnesses, id. at 765 - 6. 17 On January 23, 2020, Whitley and DHHS filed their Reply in Support of 18 Motion to Dismiss. *Id.* at 767 - 75. 20 On January 30, 2020, The Independent filed a Motion to Compel 21 Testimony of James Borneman, or in the Alternative, to Strike his 23 Declaration. Id. at 776 – 815. Sanofi filed its Opposition on February 3, 2020, 24 id. at 816 – 41, and the Motion was heard February 4, 2020, id. at 842 – 90. The Motion was denied by Minute Order, February 14, 2020. *Id.* at 921 - 2. 27

Leave to File Brief Amicus Curiae. *Id.* at 891 - 917. On February 14, 2020, The Independent filed a Notice of Non-Opposition, *id.* at 918 - 920, as did Whitley and DHHS, *id.* at 923 - 4.

On February 13, Culinary Workers Union Local 226 filed a Motion for

On February 21, 2020, the Petition was heard. *Id.* at 925 – 68. On September 4, 2020, it was denied. *Id.* at 974 – 984. Notice of that Order was given September 9, 2020, *id.* at 985 – 998, and The Independent timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 22, 2020, *id.* at 999 – JA V, 1001. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Americans with diabetes spend an estimated \$13,700 to \$16,750 per year on medical expenses, of which an estimated \$7,900 to \$9,600 is directly attributable to spending in relation to diabetes. JA I, 3. The cost of insulin roughly doubled from 2012 to 2016. *Id*.

About 291,000 Nevadans have diabetes, *id.*, and in 2017 about \$2.7 billion was spent in Nevada in direct and indirect medical expenses owed to diabetes. *Id.*

On June 15, 2017, then-Governor Brian Sandoval signed S.B. 539 into law, following its overwhelming bipartisan support in the Legislature. JA I, 5 – 6. S.B. 539 was the product of extensive debate and amendment in the

3

4

5

8

10

11

1213

14

15

1617

18

19

2021

2223

24

25

27

28

Legislature and was passed after a predecessor bill, S.B. 265, was vetoed by Governor Sandoval. *Id*.

The extensive debate and comment in the Legislature centered around the common sentiment that Nevadans faced a crisis with respect to the skyrocketing price of insulin, that the ever-rising prices were owed to the opacity in the marketplace – what share of the blame was owed to whom is unascertainable given the ubiquity of non-disclosure agreements and gag orders in the market. Id. at 4-6. Legislators variously agreed that, "The idea would be to increase the amount of transparency that exists specifically with diabetes drugs," "Because transparency is minimal in pharmaceutical pricing, it is very difficult to get to how exactly we choose the best marker[.]" *Id.* at 6, n. 4. Clearly, "The intent of S.B. 539 is . . . to further increase transparency around the pricing of essential insulin medications[,]" id., because "When we have that information, we can identify why these prices continue to go up and why there is a problem." Id.

Following its enactment, but before S.B. 539 took effect, trade groups representing pharmaceutical and biotechnology manufacturers filed suit in the District Court for the District of Nevada, in case number 2:17-cv-02315, seeking to enjoin the enforcement of S.B. 539. *Id.* at 7. That suit was eventually dismissed voluntarily, on June 28, 2018. *Id.*

Following, and as a result of the dismissal of 2:17-cv-02315, Respondents enacted a regulatory scheme, NAC § 439 et seq., which, in pertinent part, at NAC §§ 439.730 – .740, establishes procedures and guidelines for DHHS to undertake should they be presented with a request for public records under the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"), Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001 et seq. JA I, 7, JA IV, 978.

DHHS set a deadline of January 15, 2019 for affected pharmaceutical manufacturers and pharmacy benefit managers ("PBMs" to submit the required information under S.B. 539. JA I, 7.

On January 17, 2019, through its reporter Megan Messerly, The Independent made a request under the NPRA for the reports submitted under S.B. 539 (enrolled in pertinent part at Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 439B.635 and .640) by pharmaceutical manufacturers and PBMs. *Id.* at 7 – 8. On April 3, 2019, DHHS responded to Ms. Messerly, indicating that because it believed the requested information was made confidential by the DTSA, it would deny the public records request in every meaningful respect. *Id.* at 8.

On June 11, 2019, Ms. Messerly, on behalf of The Independent, made a second request under the NPRA, for further annual reports submitted pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 439B.635 and .640. *Id.* On June 24, 2019, DHHS issued

a similar response, affirming its belief that the requested material was made confidential by the DTSA. *Id*.

In effect, DHHS agreed to produce the information that was already in the public domain but denied the public records request in every meaningful respect. *Id.* at 10.

On August 8, 2019, The Independent filed in the District Court, seeking a Petition for a Writ of Mandamus, directing Whitley and DHHS to disgorge the requested public records, as required under the NPRA. *Id.* at 1.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court committed numerous errors, including errors of fact and law as well as on mixed questions of fact and law, resulting in a failure to evaluate this case under the correct standard, consideration of unreliable evidence which should have been stricken, and ultimately a judgment which conflicts with controlling decisions issued by this court, and ignores the weight of persuasive opinion in the field.

Although writ petitions are typically reviewed for an abuse of discretion, "questions of statutory construction, including the meaning and scope of a statute, are questions of law, which this court reviews de novo." *City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal*, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 6 P.3d 1147, 1149 (2003).

1	The DISA does not render any given thing confidential, rather, the
2	conduct of the party claiming to own a trade secret and the qualities that item
4	or information has are determinative of whether a certain thing is a trade
5	secret. Baron v. Dep't of Human Servs., 169 A.3d 1268, 1276 n.6 (Pa. Cmmw
6 7	2017). The DTSA enumerates criteria for use in evaluating whether a given
8	thing may be correctly considered a trade secret. In contrast to laws this court
9	has acknowledged render certain otherwise-public records confidential, such
1011	as Nev. Rev. Stat. § 202.3662, Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Haley, 126 Nev.
12	Adv. Rep. 23, 2, 234 P.3d 922, 923 (2010), it does not specify any certain
13 14	thing, rather, it lists the qualities that trade secrets typically have. The DTSA,
15	therefore, does not "declare by law," the records at issue herein "to be
16	confidential[.]" Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.010(1). In holding that the DTSA
17 18	rendered the public records sought herein confidential, the District Court
19	erred.
2021	The records sought herein are not trade secrets by any definition. They
22	are specifically exempted from trade secret status under Nev. Rev. Stat. §
23	600A.030(5)(b). The pharmaceutical manufacturers and PBMs who
2425	
26	¹ Cf. Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Haley, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 23, 2, 234 P.3d 922 923 (2010) (Notwithstanding Nev. Rev. Stat. §202.3662's plain and
27	unambiguous statement that applications for concealed firearms permits are

confidential, portions which are not confidential ordered produced under the

NPRA.)

⁷

purportedly hold these trade secrets gave the information to DHHS, without any guarantee that the information would be kept confidential, thus vitiating any confidentiality they may have once enjoyed. Further, even in the presence of a promise of confidentiality, the trade secret status would be vitiated by the pharmaceutical manufacturers and PBMs giving their trade secret information to their customer, DHHS. Further still, the assertion that any economic value is derived from the exclusive knowledge of this information is belied by 20 years of lock-step price increases the purported competitors who hold the information have engaged in. JA IV, 784, 805 – 12.

Even in the event the public records sought herein could be correct called trade secrets which otherwise would enjoy some common law confidentiality or protection, Respondents cannot meet the balancing test outlined by this Court's precedent, because of the overwhelming policy arguments in favor of transparency. *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Haley*, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 23, 6, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010).

The administrative codes enacted by DHHS at NAC §§ 439B.730 – .740 must be stricken, as they were not authorized by the Legislature, conflict with the obvious intent of S.B. 539, and operate as a line-item veto over the NPRA, all of which this court has specifically prohibited. *See e.g., Division of Ins. v. State Farm Mutual Ins. Co.*, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000);

Clark Co. Social Service Dep't v. Newkirk, 106 Nev. 177, 179, 789 P.2d 227, 228 (1990); Roberts v. State, 104 Nev. 33, 37, 752 P.2d 221, 223 (1988); Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. V. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 84, 9 – 10, 429 P.3d 313, 317 – 18 (2018); Comstock Residents Ass'n v. Lyon Cty. 6 Bd. of Comm'rs, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 19, 10, 414 P.3d 318, 322 (2018). 8 **ARGUMENT** 9 On January 17, 2019, through its reporter Megan Messerly, The 10 Independent submitted a public records request to DHHS, seeking all reports 11 12 submitted by pharmaceutical manufacturers pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 13 439B.635 and .640, and any other report required of pharmaceutical 14 manufacturers by S.B. 539, and all reports submitted by PBMs pursuant to 16 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 439B.645, and any other report required of PBMs by S.B. 17 539. JA I, 24 – 25. 18 19 DHHS responded April 3, 2019, indicating that it did "not intend to 20 disclose any fields from the drug manufacturer and PBM reports not 21 referenced in Appendix 2." Id. at 28, and see the referenced Appendix 2, id. at 23 31. 24 Subsequently, on June 11, 2019, The Independent sent a similar request 25 for public records to DHHS, id. at 33 – 35, and on June 24, 2019, id. at 37 – 40, received a similar response.

1	In both cases, DHHS states, "DHHS is denying disclosure of the fields
2	not included in Appendix 2 on the basis that the information is confidential
4	pursuant to the federal Defend Trade Secrets Act[.]" Id. at 28, at 37.
5	DHHS therefore,
6	Did not disclose the following information from the
7 8	Drug Manufacturer Essential Diabetes Drug Reports (NRS 439B.635):
9	• The Cost of Producing the Drug;
10 11	 Total Administrative Expenditures Relating to the Drug;
12	 Profit Manufacturer Earned from the Drug;
13	Percentage of Manufacturer's Total Profit for the Period During Which the Manufacturer Has
14 15	marketed the Drug for Sale that Is Attributable to Drug;
16 17	Total Amount of Financial Assistance Provided through Patient Prescription Assistance Programs:
18	Programs;Cost Associated with Consumer Coupons and
19	for Consumer Copayment Assistance Programs;Manufacturer Cost Attributable to Redemption
20	of Consumer Coupons and Use of Consumer
21	Copayment Assistance Program; andAggregate of All Rebates Manufacturers
22	Provided to Pharmacy Benefit Managers for
23	Drug Sales in Nevada.
2425	JA IV, 975.
26	From the Drug Manufacturer Essential Diabetes Drug Price Increase
27	Reports required under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 439B.640, DHHS refused to disclose
28	A Description of the Factor;

1	The Percentage of the Influence on any Price
2	Increase; and
3	 Explanation of Role of Each Factor on the Price Increase.
4 5	JA I, 9.
6	From the PBM Essential Diabetes Drug Reports, required under Nev.
7	Rev. Stat. § 439B.645, DHHS refused to produce anything other than a list of
8	PBMs that submitted reports, denying all of the following:
9	Total amount of all whates the DDM magatists d
10	 Total amount of all rebates the PBM negotiated with manufacturers during the preceding
11	calendar year for essential diabetes drugs;
12	 Total amount of all rebates mentioned above
13	that were retained by the PBM;
14	 Total amount of all rebates that were negotiated for purchases of such drugs for use by recipients
15	of Medicaid;
16	• Total amount of all rebates that were negotiated
17	for purchases of such drugs for use by persons covered by third parties that are government
	entities but are not Medicaid or Medicare;
18	 Total amount of all rebates that were negotiated
19	for purchases of such drugs for use by persons
20	covered by third parties that are not governmental entities; and
21	 Total amount of all rebates that were negotiated
22	for purchases of such drugs for use by persons
23	covered by a plan described in SB 539 §4.2(2)
24	and (3).
25	Id.
26	On August 8, 2019, The Independent filed a Petition for a Writ of
27	Mandamus in the Eighth Judicial District Court together with an Appendix,
28	Mandamus in the Eighth Judicial District Court together with an Appendix,

seeking production of the records DHHS withheld. *Id.* at 1 - 232. The Independent argued that the DTSA does not provide a cause of action against state actors, and in any case does not preclude production of records in the public records context, id. at 11, at 11 n.7, and on October 15, 2019, filed a 6 Supplemental Brief, id. at 235 - 46, specifically explaining that the DTSA does not make any given thing confidential by operation of law, id. at 238 – 9 240. 10 Ultimately, on September 4, 2020, the District Court denied the Petition, 11 12 JA IV, 974-84, stating: 13 The DTSA's definition for trade secrets places these 14 reports squarely under confidentiality protections. 18 15 U.S.C. 1839(3). Specifically, and as both Respondents and Sanofi highlight, these reports derive independent 16 economic value, actual or potential, from not being 17 generally known to, or readily ascertainable by, other people who can obtain economic value from their 18 disclosure or use and are subject to reasonable efforts 19 to maintain their secrecy. *Id.* 1839(3). 20 The District Court's ruling places itself at odds with numerous other state and 21 federal courts which have examined this question. It is an interpretation of law, 22 23 and therefore subject to de novo review by this Court. See e.g., City of Reno v. 24 Reno Gazette-Journal, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 6 P.3d 1147, 1149 (2003). 25 The records sought herein are not made trade secrets by the DTSA, 26

because neither the DTSA nor any other trade secret law can make a given

 $\begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$

O

thing a trade secret – it is only the conduct of the party and the properties of the thing itself which render something a trade secret.

The holders of the public records sought herein have not taken adequate steps, nor can they prove that the requested records hold any economic value, and therefore the records do not satisfy any applicable definition of what a trade secret is.

Notwithstanding that the records sought herein are not trade secrets, even were they, production would still be required under Nevada law, including the NPRA and the body of case law established by this Court, which promotes a broad interpretation of powers and rights under the NPRA, *Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 84, 7, 429, P.3d 313, 317 (2018), citing *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. 873, 877 – 78, and recognizes that any exceptions or confidentialities should be construed narrowly, *id.* at 11 – 12, at 318, citing *DR Partners v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Clark Cty.*, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000).

The records sought herein are not made confidential by the DTSA. They are not trade secrets because they have not adequately been protected, nor do they provide economic value to their holders. Even assuming, arguendo, that they could be considered trade secrets, nonetheless Nevada law would require

 $\begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$

their disclosure, as the policy of transparency dramatically outweighs the private interest in secrecy in this case.

I. The Public Records Sought Herein are not Made Confidential Either by Statute or at Common Law.

The public records sought herein are not trade secrets. They are not made confidential by any law, including the DTSA or Nevada trade secret law. Further, the conduct of pharmaceutical manufacturers and PBMs, in providing the information to DHHS without any guarantee of confidentiality dissolved any potential claim of confidentiality. Further still, the public records sought herein provide their owners with no economic value, and therefore they do not meet any definition of a trade secret.

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