Case No. 81844

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Apr 26 2021 05:47 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

THE NEVADA INDEPENDENT,

Appellant,

VS.

RICHARD WHITLEY, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE DIRECTOR OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; THE STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; and SANOFI-AVENTIS U.S. LLC,

Respondents.

District Court Case No. A-19-799939-W, Department XIV

ADDENDUM TO RESPONDENT SANOFI-AVENTIS U.S. LLC'S
ANSWERING BRIEF

JOHN R. BAILEY, Nevada Bar No. 0137 DENNIS L. KENNEDY, Nevada Bar No. 1462 SARAH E. HARMON, Nevada Bar No. 8106 REBECCA L. CROOKER, Nevada Bar No. 15202

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

Prior History: <u>KaZee, Inc. v. Callender, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 200403, 2019 WL 5901238 (E.D. Tex., July 26, 2019)</u>

Counsel: [*1] For Kazee, Inc., Plaintiff: Joshua M Russ, Tyler J Bexley, Peter Dermot Marketos, Reese Marketos LLP, Dallas, TX.

For Todd Leach, in his official capacity as Chief Information Officer of the University of Texas Medical Branch, Dr. David L Callender, in his official capacity as President of the University of Texas Medical Branch, Defendants: Graig Joseph Alvarez, LEAD ATTORNEY, Alvarez Stauffer Bremer PLLC, Houston, TX; Kara Kristin Stauffer Lindquist, Alvarez Stauffer Bremer PLLC, Houston, TX.

Judges: SEAN D. JORDAN, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE.

Opinion by: SEAN D. JORDAN

Opinion

MEMORANDUM OPINION & ORDER ADOPTING THE FACTUAL FINDINGS AND LEGAL CONCLUSIONS OF MAGISTRATE'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

Before the Court is Defendants Dr. David L. Callender and Todd Leach's Motion to Dismiss. (Dkt. #10). The Magistrate Judge entered a report and recommendation that the motion be denied. (Dkt. #37). The Defendants filed objections, (Dkt. #38), to which KaZee responded in support, (Dkt. #39). The Court, having conducted a *de novo* review of the motion and the record, adopts the factual findings and legal conclusions of the report under the reasoning set forth herein.

I. FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

KaZee, Inc., provides information-technology [*2] products and services to the healthcare industry, including its "PEARL" system, an electronic medical records software program. KaZee agreed to license PEARL to the University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston ("UTMB") for use at member sites within its Correctional Managed Health Care Program ("CMHCP"). The parties entered into a "Master License" agreement (the "Agreement") that set out, among other things, the type of license, scope of use allowed under the license, and methods of terminating the license. ¹

After implementing PEARL at the agreed-upon CMHCP sites, KaZee became aware of alleged use of PEARL at other sites not within the CMHCP. In response to KaZee's inquiry about such use, UTMB acknowledged that its legal department initially agreed that the "current license can only be used for [the] UTMB/TDCJ/TT project [at the CMHCP sites] unless there is another agreement in place" and provided a list of sites that had used PEARL. KaZee asserted that UTMB's use of PEARL at certain sites was unauthorized, that such use constituted a material breach of the Agreement, and that the breach could be cured by paying \$20 million in licensing fees.

KaZee negotiated with UTMB to resolve the **[*3]** dispute while allowing UTMB to continue using PEARL for several years. Unable to come to an agreement, KaZee filed suit against UTMB for breach of contract under state law and copyright infringement under 17 U.S.C. § 501.² In a motion to dismiss, UTMB asserted sovereign immunity against both claims and failure to exhaust administrative remedies in the State Office of Administrative Hearings ("SOAH") as to the breach of contract claim. Shortly thereafter, the parties entered into a Tolling Agreement dismissing the lawsuit without prejudice and tolling KaZee's claims until 30 days after the completion of administrative proceedings in SOAH.

Without filing a notice of claim in SOAH, KaZee resumed its efforts to negotiate payment for the allegedly unauthorized use of PEARL. When negotiations between KaZee and UTMB failed again, KaZee sent UTMB a letter asserting that UTMB's unauthorized use of PEARL constituted a material breach of the Agreement. The letter further stated that, unless UTMB paid KaZee \$20 million within 60 days for licensing fees allegedly owed to KaZee as a result of UTMB's unauthorized use of PEARL, the Agreement would be terminated. [*4] UTMB responded by contesting KaZee's assertion of a breach by unauthorized use, rejecting KaZee's related contention that it was owed licensing fees, and arguing that any claims KaZee might assert arising under the Agreement must be filed with SOAH rather than in federal court pursuant to the Agreement and the Tolling Agreement.

After 60 days passed without payment of the demanded licensing fees, KaZee filed this suit against Dr. David L. Callender, in his official capacity as President of UTMB, and Todd Leach, in his official capacity as Chief Information Officer of UTMB. KaZee asserts a copyright-infringement claim under 17 U.S.C. § 501, and a misappropriation-of-trade-secrets claim in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1836 (the Defend Trade Secrets Act ("DTSA")). KaZee seeks preliminary and permanent injunctive relief against UTMB's ongoing use of PEARL. Defendants answered with a motion to dismiss, invoking sovereign immunity and challenging both this Court's subject-matter jurisdiction and the claims' sufficiency. The Magistrate Judge issued a report and recommendation counseling denial of the Defendants' motion, to which Defendants objected and KaZee replied in support.

II. DEFENDANTS' RULE 12(B)(1) MOTION

¹UTMB entered into the Agreement with Medical Information Management Systems, Inc. ("MIMS"). UTMB later entered into a Maintenance Agreement and a Source Code Agreement with Business Computer Applications, Inc. ("BCA"). KaZee is the successor-in-interest of both MIMS and BCA.

² KaZee, Inc. v. University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, Civil Action No. 4:18-CV-53 (E.D. Tex. Jan. 19, 2018).

KaZee asserts that UTMB's [*5] ongoing use of PEARL constitutes copyright infringement and misappropriation of trade secrets and warrants preliminary and permanent injunctive relief. Defendants contest the claims and the relief sought, in part, through a *Rule 12(b)(1)* motion to dismiss, in which Defendants present three arguments. First, Defendants urge the Court to dismiss KaZee's claims for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction because the facts alleged constitute breach of contract under state law rather than federal copyright infringement or federal misappropriation of trade secrets. Second, Defendants maintain that KaZee's claims should be dismissed under the forum non conveniens doctrine because the claims arise under the Agreement and thus must be brought before SOAH pursuant to the dispute-resolution provision therein. And, third, irrespective of how they are characterized, Defendants assert that KaZee's claims are barred because Defendants are entitled to sovereign immunity.

Defendants' <u>Rule 12(b)(1)</u> arguments fail. KaZee asserts federal claims over which this Court has subject-matter jurisdiction. Thus, there is no basis to dismiss the claims to allow filing in SOAH. And the claims may proceed against the Defendants under the *Ex parte* [*6] Young exception to sovereign immunity. Defendants' <u>Rule 12(b)(1)</u> motion is DENIED.

A. Rule 12(b)(1) Legal Standards

Article III of the Constitution requires a federal court to establish its subject-matter jurisdiction before exercising the judicial power of the United States. U.S. CONST. art. III ("The judicial Power shall extend to all Cases . . . [and] to Controversies."); see also, e.g., Ruhrgas AG v. Marathon Oil Co., 526 U.S. 574, 583, 119 S.Ct. 1563, 143 L.Ed. 2d 760 (1999). This limit on a court's power is so essential to maintaining constitutional and statutory boundaries that it "must be policed by the courts on their own initiative even at the highest level." Ruhrgas, 526 U.S. at 583.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) provides a procedural vehicle to challenge a court's subject-matter jurisdiction over a pending suit. A court should consider a jurisdictional attack under Rule 12(b)(1) before any attack on the merits to avoid premature dismissal with prejudice. Ramming v. United States, 281 F.3d 158, 161 (5th Cir. 2001) (per curiam). When doing so, a court may consider the complaint, undisputed facts in the record, and disputed facts resolved by the court. Id. The moving party carries the burden of proving that the plaintiff "cannot prove any set of facts in support of his claim that would entitle plaintiff to relief." Id.

B. Subject-Matter Jurisdiction

KaZee asserts that the Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over the claims at issue because its copyright-infringement [*7] claim under 17 U.S.C. § 501, and its misappropriation-of-trade-secrets claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1836, both invoke federal-question jurisdiction. Defendants argue that KaZee's claims arise under the Agreement, sound in state law, and cannot support federal-question jurisdiction.

1. Copyright infringement

A federal district court has subject-matter jurisdiction over actions "arising under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States." 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Relevant here, a district court has exclusive jurisdiction over actions arising under the Copyright Act. Id. § 1338(a); Goodman v. Lee, 815 F.2d 1030, 1031 (5th Cir. 1987). An action arises under the Copyright Act "if and only if":

- (1) the complaint seeks a remedy expressly granted by the Act;
- (2) the complaint asserts a claim requiring construction of the Act; or
- (3) the complaint presents a case where a distinctive policy of the Act requires that federal principles control the disposition of the claim.

³ KaZee does not rely upon diversity jurisdiction, nor could it. Defendants are citizens of Texas, and KaZee has its primary place of business in Texas.

<u>Goodman, 815 F.2d at 1031</u> (quoting <u>T.B. Harms Co. v. Eliscu, 339 F.2d 823, 824 (2d Cir. 1964)</u> [hereinafter "T.B. Harms test"]).

The *T.B. Harms* test guides a court's determination of jurisdiction "for claims of infringement arising from, or in the context of, an alleged contractual breach[.]" <u>Bassett v. Mashantucket Pequot Tribe, 204 F.3d 343, 355 (2d Cir. 2000)</u>. The test "focuse[s] on whether and how a complaint implicates the Copyright Act." <u>Id. at 348</u>. Simply put, "[w]hen a complaint alleges a [*8] claim or seeks a remedy provided by the Copyright Act, federal jurisdiction is properly invoked." <u>Id. at 355</u>. Although it is "well-established" that not all actions with complaints referring to the Copyright Act arise under the Act, <u>id. at 347</u> (citing <u>T.B. Harms, 339 F.2d at 824</u>), copyright infringement claims do "characteristically arise where the defendant held a license to exploit the plaintiff's copyright, but is alleged to have forfeited the license by breaching the terms of the licensing contract and thus to infringe in any further exploitation." *Id.*

Applying the <u>T.B. Harms</u> test to this action, it is clear that KaZee's copyright-infringement claim arises under the Copyright Act. The complaint alleges an ongoing violation of the Act and seeks a remedy expressly granted by the Act—an injunction against further allegedly infringing use of PEARL. See <u>17 U.S.C. § 502(a)</u> (authorizing a court to "grant temporary and final injunctions on such terms as it may deem reasonable to prevent or restrain infringement of a copyright"). "Because the complaint alleges the defendants violated the Copyright Act and seeks the injunctive remedy provided by the Act, under the rule of <u>T.B. Harms</u>, the action falls within the jurisdictional grant of <u>Section 1338</u>." <u>Bassett, 204 F.3d at 355-56</u>; accord 3 MELVILLE [*9] B. NIMMER & DAVID NIMMER, <u>NIMMER ON COPYRIGHT § 12.01[A][1][a]</u> (2019) [hereinafter NIMMER] ("[N]otwithstanding the existence of a contractual relationship between the parties, if the defendant's conduct is alleged to be without authority under such contract and further to constitute an act of statutory copyright infringement, then federal jurisdiction will be invoked."); see also id. ("The prototypical case invoking federal jurisdiction is an action for infringement of a statutory copyright."). Therefore, this Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over the copyright-infringement claim.⁴

Defendants' contrary arguments are unavailing. Defendants contend that the copyright-infringement claim may not proceed until the Court first adjudicates whether UTMB previously breached the Agreement and, if so, whether that breach entitled KaZee to unilaterally terminate the Agreement. This argument turns on a misunderstanding of the governing law. As discussed, the *T.B. Harms* test governs the issue of whether a claim "arises under" the Copyright Act. See <u>Bassett, 204 F.3d at 347</u>. The Fifth Circuit has adopted that test, see <u>Goodman, 815 F.2d at 1031</u>, and courts have repeatedly [*10] applied it, see <u>supra</u> note 4. Under the *T.B. Harms* test, the adjudication of some underlying contract issues does not preclude federal jurisdiction. See <u>Bassett, 204 F.3d at 350 n.4</u> ("As only a federal court can adjudicate a claim of infringement and award copyright remedies, to deny jurisdiction because the defendant will contest only contract issues is essentially to deny plaintiff's claim."); <u>NIMMER</u>, § 12.01[A][1][a] ("Because the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction to determine statutory infringement, they . . . may likewise pass on other questions of contract law."); see also <u>Stross v. Redfin Corp.</u>, 730 F. App'x 198, 202-03 (5th Cir. 2018)

⁻

⁴Courts within this circuit and beyond have adopted the <u>T.B. Harms</u> test and applied it accordingly. See, e.g., <u>Scandinavian Satellite Sys.</u>, AS v. Prime TV Ltd., 291 F.3d 839, 844, 351 U.S. App. D.C. 431 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (adopting the T.B. Harms test and acknowledging its reaffirmance in <u>Bassett</u>); <u>Bassett</u>, 204 F.3d at 350 n.4 (noting that the T.B. Harms test "require[s] federal courts to accept all cases in which the complaint seeks a remedy provided by the Copyright Act"); <u>DEA Specialties Co. v. DeLeon, No. 5:14-CV-634, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 123049, 2014 WL 4385967, at *3 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 4, 2014) ("[Plaintiffs] allegations are sufficient to allege a claim arising under the Copyright Act. [Plaintiff] asserts a claim directly under the Copyright Act for copyright infringement and seeks a declaration of willful infringement, an injunction against continued copying and use, damages pursuant to <u>17 U.S.C. § 504</u>, and attorney's fees under the Copyright Act."); <u>Daniel Wilson Prods., Inc. v. Time-Life Films, Inc., 736 F. Supp. 40, 43 (S.D.N.Y. 1990)</u> ("Where a complaint alleges a federally conferred right, such as a copyright, a trademark or a patent, then alleges violations of that right and requests remedies provided by federal statute, this should be enough to confer federal jurisdiction. The fact that such a claim arises in the context of a disruption of contractual arrangements and presents certain contract issues should not remove it from that jurisdiction."); cf. <u>T.B. Harms</u>, <u>339 F.2d at 824</u> (dismissing an action for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction where no claim of copyright infringement was asserted and no relief provided by the Copyright Act was sought); <u>Butler v. Cont'l Airlines, Inc., No. 4:01-CV-2194, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20295, 2001 WL 1509545, at *4 (S.D. Tex. Nov. 19, 2001) (same).</u></u>

(per curiam) ("This is a copyright case, not a contracts case. The right to bring a copyright infringement claim comes from federal copyright law . . . [and] does not depend on state contract law. . . . The two claims are distinct.").⁵

KaZee asserts a claim for copyright infringement and requests remedies expressly granted by the Copyright Act, including injunctive relief. Under the controlling *T.B. Harms* test, this Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over that claim.

2. Federal misappropriation [*11] of trade secrets

Relying upon the same arguments asserted as to KaZee's copyright-infringement claim, Defendants assert that the Court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over KaZee's misappropriation-of-trade-secrets claim. Defendants' argument is similarly unavailing.

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